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Introduction

Situated near the confluence of the Pend Oreille and Priest rivers, Priest River is located in
southwestern Bonner County, Idaho (Sec. 25, T56N, R5W, Boise Meridian). The city’s commercial
core occupies a gentle slope that rises north from the Pend Oreille River to US Route 2 (also known
as Albeni Road). That route connects eastern Washington State’s largest city, Spokane, with
Sandpoint, the county seat of Bonner County. US-2 is the main east/west thoroughfare through Priest
River and essentially follows that route’s historic alignment. US-2 is situated just north of (and passes
parallel to) the northern perimeter of the Priest River Commercial Core Historic District (hereafter, the
District), essentially bypassing the commercial core area. The main north/south corridor through the
District is Main Street, while High Street comprises the main east/west route. Priest River currently
has a population of approximately 1,600 residents. Since the town’s founding in the early 1890s, the
logging industry has been the economic mainstay of the community. However, mining, agriculture, and
tourism have also played major economic roles in the development of Priest River, with tourism in
recent years commanding an increasingly prominent position in the economic importance of the city.

The District includes buildings situated in Blocks 3, 4, 7, and 8 of Gillingham’s Addition to Priest River
and two properties located in the Burlington Northern Right-of-Way, with the District roughly forming
an irregular rectangle. The period of significance for the District spans the years between construction
of the Citizen’s State Bank (1912), the earliest building identified as contributing to the significance of
the District, and construction of the Interstate Telephone Company Building (1924), the newest building
named as a contributing property within the District. During the period of significance, the commercial
core experienced its heaviest growth, with that prosperity shaped by multiple themes.

Historic maps of the years 1912 and 1924 indicate there were considerably more commercial buildings
within the boundaries of the District than are now present. A number of those buildings, however,
appear to have been of modest dimensions and simple construction, with some, such as blacksmith
shops, representing services or trades that became obsolete as new technologies became available
(Sanborn Map Company, various years). Although these small enterprises, as well as some other larger
commercial buildings, no longer exist, the contributing buildings (both occupied and vacant) that
constitute the present District appear to historically have been the most important buildings within the
central commercial core during the period of significance. These buildings retain exterior integrity and
have maintained their ability to convey their historic associations.

Criteria for Evaluation

Although individual commercial establishments and small strip malls have recently been constructed
(within the last twenty years) adjacent to (north and south of) US-2, Priest River’s historic commercial
core still serves as the town’s principal commercial district. The commercial core contains a significant
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concentration of buildings linked by physical development to the town’s historic and present central
business district. The commercial core’s configuration, which historically and currently features a
major through highway that bypasses the commercial core, has contributed to the core’s relatively
unaltered appearance. Unlike many small towns in more populated or heavy urban areas, road-widening
and construction of alternate high-density motor vehicle traffic routes have not impinged on the town’s
historic layout. In addition, new construction has mainly been confined to development along US-2.
As a result, modern visual intrusions within the District have been minimal, and the town has retained
to a significant degree its historic spatial arrangement and massing of commercial buildings in the
business core.

Over the years, storefronts in Priest River’s commercial core have been periodically modified to
accommodate different business enterprises and changing popular styles. Such alterations are an
inherent part of the dynamics of change, growth, and recession that characterize the economic and social
development of municipal development. Within the District, most alterations have been confined to
street-level facades. None of the buildings named as contributing to the District’s significance have had
their storefronts totally reclad.

Contributing Properties

A number of buildings evaluated as contributing to the District’s significance are associated with trends
and themes in local history that experienced sequential periods of financial growth and downturns (such
as lumbering and mining). Buildings that were constructed primarily in response to "boom" cycles, and
that subsequently fell vacant during "bust” years, may exhibit more evidence of physical deterioration
than do service-oriented buildings that have been continuously occupied since the period of significance.
But unless lack of upkeep irretrievably overwhelms the ability of the property to convey a sense of its
historic association, vacancy or neglect should not disqualify a building from inclusion in the District
as a contributing element. Eligibility requirements for contributing properties within the District were
evaluated based on their ability to convey a sense of their historic association in the following areas:

1. Physical Integrity: All of the buildings within the District must retain exterior physical
integrity, and integrity of location, design, setting, material, workmanship, feeling, and
association.

2. Expression of Theme: During its period of significance, Priest River was influenced by the
growth of both extractive (agriculture, lumbering, mining) and service industries (commercial
trade, transportation, and tourism). Unlike many small western towns that developed primarily
in response to a single industry, such as mining or agriculture, for example, multiple economic
events have molded Priest River’s commercial core. Buildings and structures that retain the
ability to convey associations relating to those themes are one of the requirements for
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evaluation. (This criterion is discussed in Section 8 of this nomination).

With the exception of the Beardmore Building, the properties included within the District
represent vernacular rather than high-style architecture. Pragmatism and expediency rather
than stylistic or artistic concerns clearly influenced building construction in Priest River’s
commercial core during the period of significance. This reflects the nature of commercial
growth typical of small western towns where boom and bust cycles associated with extractive
industries called for rapid construction, usually employing locally available materials.
Consequently, no single architectural style dominates the architecture of the commercial core,
and building design within the district can best be described as eclectic.

3. Relationship to the Commercial Core: A third requirement for inclusion of a building or
structure as contributing to the significance of the District is that the property must represent
economic themes important in the development of Priest River, or illustrate social themes that
occurred as a result of economic growth and activity (the IOOF building is an example of the
latter).

Physical Descriptions of Contributing Buildings

Descriptions of the following properties that are named as contributing to the significance of the District
are arranged by Block (3,4,7,8), followed by the Burlington Northern Right-of-Way and beginning with
Block 3. The descriptions correlate with the sketch map. The contributing properties are numbered
1-10, and the noncontributing properties are numbered 11-18. Descriptive information regarding the
properties described below was appended from the 1994 Valuation Summaries located in the Bonner
County Assessor’s office, Sandpoint, Idaho; from a reconnaissance survey of properties included in the
District by Marylyn Cork in 1989 (available from the Idaho State Historic Preservation Office and the
City of Priest River); and from a pedestrian survey of the District by the author of this nomination.

1. The Presta Building, 221-225 Main Street
contributing
1914

Today known as Mercer’s Memories and Antique Mall, this building currently houses antique retail
stores. When viewed from its primary (west) facade, the one-story brick masonry building gives the
appearance of a two-story structure. The building steps down from the main facade to the rear facade.
The flat roof is composed of built-up tar. The building is constructed on a poured concrete full
basement, which is unfinished. The north and south facades contain no architectural or artistic
adornments other than several small, above-street-level arched windows that are presently boarded over.
The primary facade, however, contains noteworthy stylistic features, particularly its decorative brick
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work. A single row of corbelled brick extends the width of the building below the coping. Raised
brick work in a diamond motif with brick medallion embellishments grace each end of the main facade.
Two smaller raised circular brick designs are located on either side of the central adornment, which
features raised brick work in a large circular pattern. The central design features a raised diamond
pattern in its center. Below those treatments are two inset horizontal brick panels, which are partially
obscured by cloth awnings of recent addition.

The building’s commercial spaces were designed in a three-bay division, with each bay measuring
approximately 24 ft. wide. The building is approximately 80 ft. deep. This plan accommodated
separate spaces for individual businesses under one roof. The storefront of the Presta building has been
modified from the original, particularly the middle bay. Vertical wood siding has been attached to what
appears to be the original brick masonry construction of that bay. Each of the three bays is accessed
by an original recessed entry doorway which is flanked by bay storefront windows. The Presta building
exhibits good exterior integrity and is still used in the function for which it was designed (commercial
retail trade).

2. Bargain Barn and Priest River Mercantile, 207-209 Main Street
contributing
1913

This building may have originally been the Kaniksu Mercantile. Constructed in 1913, the building is
located at 207 and 209 Main Street. It is a one-story building of brick masonry construction. It rests
on a poured concrete foundation with a partial basement in the rear third of the building. Of simple
design, the building is divided into two storefronts. Square brick piers mark the north and south corners
of the primary facade, while an identical third pier denotes the dividing wall between the two
storefronts. A single row of corbelled brick--which extends the full width of the building--is the only
other decorative feature.

The flat roof is composed of built-up tar. The building adjoins the Kenco Auto Supply Building to the
north. A vacant lot is situated on the south facade, where once another commercial building (since
razed) adjoined the property (Sanborn Map Company 1928). Consequently, there are no window or
door openings on the south facade. The storefronts of the two buildings have been completely altered
from the original. Currently the storefronts feature modern aluminum-frame, fixed-light, floor-to-
ceiling windows, with aluminum-frame full-length glazed doorway openings situated in the center of
each bay. Each bay of the primary facade measures approximately 30 ft. The building has a depth of
90 ft. The exterior condition of the building is good.

Although the storefronts of the building have been compromised from the original, the building still
retains its ability to convey its original function (retail trade and commerce) through the integrity of its
remaining qualities of location, setting, feeling, and association.
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3. Kenco Auto Supply, 205 Main Street
contributing
1905

This two-story brick masonry building was constructed in 1915. The flat roof is built-up tar. The
building rests on a poured concrete foundation and has a partial poured concrete basement. The
aluminum-frame, fixed-sash windows on the storefront level of the building are not original; however,
the window casings appear original, as do the placement of the doorway openings. The central doorway
entrance is located off-center from (north of) the midpoint of the building. A pedestrian doorway on
the south end of the main facade accesses the second floor, which contains two apartments (now
vacant). Utilization of square brick piers at each corner of the main facade and in the center add a
feeling of visual solidity to the building. Other decorative elements on the street-level portion of the
building are brick stringcourses placed over inset wood panels. The building measures approximately
40’ x 90°.

Decorative elements on the upper level include square piers in each corner of the main facade. The piers
are similar to those on the lower level, a feature which unifies the design of the building. Decorative
brick work in the form of three horizontal inset brick panels with corbelled brick cornices are placed
beneath the coping. Below each panel is a pair of one-over-one double-hung, wood sash windows set
beneath a segmental arch. The windows are flanked by wood shutters, which are not original. The
north facade (adjacent to High Street) features upper-level treatments identical to the main facade,
except that one pair of windows has been replaced with one-over-one double-hung, aluminum sash
windows. The storefront level of the north facade contains two one-over-one double-hung, wood sash
windows flanking a doorway that has been covered over. A one-story, flat-roofed building has been
attached to the rear facade (the date of the addition is unknown).

The building exhibits good exterior integrity, and storefront modifications have been minimal. Although
there has been an addition to the building, it is attached to the rear facade (which never served as public
access), and is of smaller scale than the historic property; thus it does not visually overwhelm the
building.

4. Community Service Building, 309 High Street
contributing
1920

This small, one-story, false-front building is located at 309 High Street. Constructed in 1920, the wood
frame building is set on a poured concrete foundation. The building is 13°-0" x 27°-0". The front-
gabled structure is clad with asphalt siding of imitation brick pattern, which appears original. Four
brackets support the projecting cornice. An off-center, one-light, two cross-panel door and large fixed-
wood frame window are located on the primary facade. The window has recently been boarded over.
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The building exhibits fair exterior integrity. Although this building is of modest design and simple
construction, it appears little modified from the original. It is representative of the variety of
architecture dating from the period of significance that is present in Priest River’s commercial core.
The building is presently vacant.

5. IOOF Building, 216, 218 Main Street
contributing
1914

The IOOF building is a two-story, flat-roofed structure that is divided into two bays of unequal size for
commercial businesses on the lower level, and the International Order of Odd Fellows meeting hall on
the upper level. The brick masonry building is set on a poured concrete foundation. The flat roof is
composed of built-up tar. The building measures 50°-0" x 60’-0". The northern storefront is presently
vacant and the southern storefront is occupied by a tavern.

The IOOF building’s most noteworthy stylistic features are achieved through the use of decorative brick
detailing. The coping consists of a row of headers layered between a row of stretchers. Below the
coping, a series of closely placed, evenly spaced corbelled bricks distinguish the roof line. A
stringcourse of stretchers lies below the corbelling. Beneath the top stringcourse, a block pattern was
achieved using cut bricks to form the design. A second stringcourse of stretchers matching the top
stringcourse in design frames the block motif. A third stringcourse of stretchers marks the storefront
level of the building. Square brick piers are placed at the north and south corners of the primary
facade, with a third pier marking the division between the two storefronts. The piers extend slightly
above the roof line of the building. The use of imbrication in simple, contrasting vertical and horizontal
designs, coupled with the rather massive appearance of the piers, gives the building a sense of
cohesiveness. Fenestration on the upper level consists of three pairs of one-over-one double-hung sash
windows placed beneath flat arches.

The storefronts on the first floor have been extensively altered. Materials that are incompatible with
the original treatments cover both storefronts. Windows in the north bay of the building have been
completely sheathed in vertical cedar board, while the low wall beneath the windows has been faced
with insulbrick. The entry doors are not original. It appears that the present storefront claddings have
covered, not replaced, original fabrications. Despite alterations, the original fenestration of the building
is clearly evident, and sequential modifications have not overwhelmed the building to the point that its
original function is unclear. Although there are some broken windows on the building’s upper level,
the building retains good exterior integrity.

6. Runck’s Garage, 208 High Street
contributing
ca. 1920
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Today known as Millward’s Equipment Company, this one-story building is constructed of vitrified clay
tile block and brick masonry set on a concrete foundation. The flat roof is composed of built-up tar.
The spare lines and lack of adornment on this building suggest its original utilitarian function. The only
stylistic feature is a low-stepped parapet that extends nearly the length of the south facade. The building
measures approximately 100’-0" x 75°-0". The entrance doorway is located off-center on the primary
facade. Storefront windows on either side of the entrance are not original. A bank of five multi-light,
wood-frame windows (the lower halves have been boarded over with plywood coverings) are located
west of the entrance doorway. One identical window (also boarded over) is located east of the
pedestrian entry. A wood-panel utility door, which is set in the angled west (High Street) facade,

appears original.

Modifications to the building have been slight. Although some original windows have been boarded
over (probably as protection against vandalism), the building appears to have had few alterations since
its construction. It exhibits good exterior integrity and clearly conveys its historic function.

7. Interstate Telephone Company, 212 High Street
contributing
1924

Built in 1924, this one-story, flat-roofed building measures 25’-0" x 30°-0". It is constructed of brick
masonry set on a concrete foundation. Despite its modest size, this small building has classical
overtones. Stylistic features include variation in brick color and regularly spaced brick pilasters. The
main (south) facade is faced with variegated, light-colored brick laid in a stretcher bond pattern.
Stringcourses of darker, solid-colored soldier bricks add interest and contrast to the facade. The cornice
is concrete and extrudes downward slightly beyond the wall’s top edge. A second identical treatment
relieves the space between the cornice and the window and door openings, creating a double-awning
effect. The building is accessed by a wood-frame, twelve-light door with matching sidelights capped
with transom windows, all of which appear original. A brick pilaster separates the doorway from the
adjacent window, which features an identical transom. A fixed-light, aluminum window has replaced
the original glazing (which probably matched the present doorway treatment in appearance) beneath the
transom.

The historic Interstate Telephone Company building has experienced minimal modifications and is very
well preserved. It exhibits excellent exterior integrity, and is reflective of growth of the commercial
core in response to changing technologies during the 1920s. Today it is known as the Office Services
Building.
8. The Citizen’s State Bank, 218 High Street
contributing
1912
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The historic Citizen’s State Bank, currently the White Wolf Trading Company, is a small one-story
building of brick masonry construction. The flat-roofed building is set on a poured concrete foundation.
The simple stylistic features of this handsome building suggest the importance of its original function.
The angled entry in the corner is oriented toward the intersection of Main and High streets, the heart
of the city’s commercial core. The glass entry door is accented by sidelights featuring glass panels
capped by square four-light windows. A multi-light transom caps the doorway opening. Sheltering the
entryway is a triangular pediment hood supported by brackets. On either side of the doorway,
brickwork in a honeycomb pattern extends from the cornice to the base of the building, a vertical
stylistic detail that adds the impression of height. Beneath the concrete coping, a wood cornice with
asbestos shingles is supported by brackets that are of the same size and style as those supporting the
hood. The west and south facades (facing Main and High streets) contain original wood frame windows
set beneath flat arches. This building remains essentially unaltered from the original. It has been well
maintained and exhibits excellent exterior integrity.

9. The Beardmore Building, 119, 113, 109 Main Street; 302, 306, 310 High Street
contributing
1922

The Beardmore Building (now vacant) is architecturally the most imposing property located within the
District. The large two-story, flat-roofed building is of hollow-core, brick masonry construction set on
a concrete foundation. The building measures 120’-0" x 105°-0". The lower level is divided into
numerous storefronts which have been occupied by various business, service, and professional
establishments over the years. The first floor reflects this commercial traffic; every storefront has been
modified to varying degrees by a succession of tenants. Some storefronts have been sheathed in
materials incompatible with the original; others retain most elements of the original design, including
violet-colored transom windows. The building’s east (Main Street) facade and its south (High Street)
facade are nearly identical in appearance, except that the Main Street facade is longer.

The building’s most impressive architectural embellishment is the stepped parapet, which is given added
distinction by terra-cotta coping. Extensive use of terra-cotta is the building’s most arresting artistic
feature. A dropped cornice of terra-cotta supported by brackets complements the roof line. Above each
bracket is a terra-cotta block containing a floral/leaf motif. Capping the corners of the building above
the cornices are terra-cotta corner blocks with gargoyles executed in high-relief. Terra-cotta blocks,
placed between the upper and lower levels, distinguish the spaces between the commercial bays. The
fenestration on the upper level consists of a series of paired- and triple- wood frame, one-over-one
double-hung sash windows, which are original. Most of the glazing on the upper level of the building
is not intact.

Years of vacancy and age- and weather-related deterioration have caused serious damage to the interior
of the Beardmore Building. However, the building has retained fair exterior integrity, and displays the
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evolution of building construction in Priest River’s commercial core during the period of significance.

10. Priest River Grain Company, 325 Wisconsin Street

contributing
ca. 1920

Today known as the Panhandle Milling Company, the building is currently abandoned. The rectangular-
shaped structure is oriented to the east/west along the Burlington Northern Railway tracks. The one-
story, gable-roofed, wood-frame structure stands on concrete piers, which have replaced the original
wood support posts. The roof is aluminum sheet metal, which is not original. Additions on the south
facade originally served as feed-grading facilities and grain bins. Fenestration includes both wood
frame, fixed-sash and double-hung sash windows. Loading docks with utility and pedestrian doorways
are located on the primary (Montgomery Street) and secondary (Wisconsin Street) facades.

The structure exhibits excellent exterior integrity. Although no longer in use, the structure has been
very well maintained. It conveys its historic function of grain processing, storage, and transportation.

Noncontributing Properties

1.

Domestic Dwellings: Presently and historically, domestic dwellings have always bordered,
and occasionally been interspersed with, the buildings that comprise the commercial core of
the city; no houses have been named as contributing to the District’s significance. While some
dwellings near the boundaries of the District date to the period of significance, they either 1)
have been modified so drastically that their physical integrity has been compromised, 2) lack
architectural or artistic distinction, 3) do not represent economic or social themes important
in the development of Priest River, or 4) do not exhibit the evolution of commercial
construction that led to the formation of the present District during its period of significance.

New Construction: Two buildings--the Priest River Medical Clinic and the Dental Clinic--
of new construction (less than fifty years old) within the District that have been constructed
in contemporary styles and do not contribute to the significance of the District. Although
dissimilar in size, scale, design, and fabrication to the historic contributing and noncontributing
properties within the District, these buildings do not compromise the ability of the District to
convey its historic architectural forms and thematic associations. The location of these
buildings are identified in the map.

Incompatible Exterior Treatments: Although historic, some buildings within the District fail
to convey a sense of their historic associations because of excessive modifications to their
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exteriors. In some cases, such changes have completely destroyed or obscured significant
character-defining features, such as the Wright Building (1907). That building’s entire lower
level has been completely covered with vertical-board siding that is incompatible with
original fabrications. Similarly, other buildings have experienced exterior treatments that
prohibit the property from conveying its historic function, and/or from indicating its age in
relationship to other contributing properties within the District. Incompatible exterior
treatments are particularly noticeable in single-story buildings where character-defining features
are either exclusively or nearly exclusively confined to storefront-level elements. A.J.’s
Country Kitchen located at 215 High Street is an example. The single-story building has been
so altered that neither its historic function nor its historicity is suggested by its present

appearance.

Some historic buildings within the District are problematic in terms of distinguishing contributing from
noncontributing resources. These resources point to physical conditions peculiar in varying degrees to
most potential commercial core historic districts; namely, that some historic buildings and/or storefronts
have been completely covered over once or multiple times with materials incompatible with the original.
When guidelines for evaluating significance and integrity are applied, these buildings do not meet the
minimum criteria for National Register integrity. However, as is frequently the case with historic
commercial/retail buildings, it appears that the original materials on these buildings were not removed
or destroyed, but were covered over with different materials as successive tenants customized the
building to advertise qualities distinctive to their enterprises (Jandl 1982, 1,4). Careful removal of later
incompatible claddings could possibly restore an historic building’s physical integrity, thus changing its
status within the District from noncontributing to contributing.

The Pingle Building, the Linton Building and the Wright Building are all noncontributing buildings
located within Priest River’s historic commercial core that may have the potential to be contributing
buildings. These three buildings adjoin one another and figured prominently in the economic life of
Priest River during the period of significance. Although noncontributing, these buildings are consistent
with the size, scale, design, feeling, and association of the contributing properties which comprise the
District. Rehabilitation of these buildings to their historic condition (if undertaken) would be an
important addition to the District. Priest River has an active preservation group, the Priest River
Restoration and Revitalization Committee (PRRRC), which has expressed interest in restoring both
contributing and noncontributing properties that lie within the boundaries of the District.

11. Priest River Medical Clinic, 217 Main Street
noncontributing
New construction

12. The Wright Building, 221 High Street
noncontributing
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1907, 1921, 1937

Now vacant, the Wright Building’s lower level was constructed in 1907, an upper level added in 1921,
and an addition added to the rear (east facade) in 1937. The storefront level of the Wright Building
(which faces both Main and High streets) has been completely covered over with vertical-board siding
that has overwhelmed the building’s character-defining features. However, the present siding appears
to cover, not replace, the original building fabric.

13. The Pingle Building, 202, 204 Main Street
The Linton Building, 206, 208 Main Street
noncontributing
1910

Visually, the Pingle and Linton buildings have the appearance of a single building (see photograph No.
15). For purposes of this nomination, the Pingle and Linton buildings are treated as a single property.
The two-story Pingle Building presently houses a barber shop/styling salon. Constructed in 1910, the
building has been completely reclad with materials incompatible with the original; however, it may
retain most of its original claddings and decorative elements. The Linton Building presently houses a
tavern on its storefront level. The two-story building was constructed in 1910. The entire building
has been sheathed with material incompatible with the original. However, it appears that the building’s
original claddings and storefront fenestration is intact.

14. Dental Clinic, 214 Main Street
noncontributing
New construction

15. Priest River Tatoo, 220 Main Street
noncontributing
Lacks exterior integrity

16. Logger’s Bar, 224 Main Street
noncontributing
New construction

17. A.].’s Country Kitchen, 215 High Street
noncontributing
Lacks exterior integrity

18. The Keyser House, adjacent to (east of) the Panhandle Milling Company in the Burlington
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Northern right-of way
noncontributing
1895

This house was recently moved to its present location. Although the dwelling (constructed in 1895) is
associated with one of the founding families of Priest River and has retained good exterior integrity,
the building’s present setting and orientation are not consistent with its historic arrangement. Moreover,
inclusion of domestic dwellings is incompatible with the commercial nature of the properties included
within the District.
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Statement of Significance

The Priest River commercial core is eligible for inclusion in the National Register of Historic Places
as a historic district under Criterion A. It is significant for the role it played in the economic
development of Bonner County, Idaho, and in northern Idaho in the late-nineteenth and early-twentieth
centuries. During the period of significance (1912-1924), the commercial core contributed to the
expansion of agriculture, tourism and recreation, mining, and lumbering in northern Idaho, and served
as a manufacturing/processing, transportation, supply, trading, and service-related community for those
industries. The contributing properties located within the District have retained physical integrity and
have maintained their ability to convey their historic associations.

Historical Background

In the late 1880s, the nucleus of the community of Priest River formed near a wetlands located near
(east of) the present Priest River. After heavy flooding in the early 1890s inundated the fledgling
community, the founders of the village moved the town to its present location (Estes 1961, 13). The
following year (1891) construction crews laid the main line road of the Great Northern Railway (GN)
through Priest River (the Great Northern Railway became the Burlington Northern Railway [BN] after
1951). Some laborers with the GN, principally immigrants from southern Italy, located in an informal
community east of Priest River known as the "Italian Settlement" (Cork 1991, 42). Like the Italians,
other groups and individuals participated in the development of the city’s commercial core over the
years (Priest River Times 15 February 1923, 1).

Completion of the GN line in 1892 enabled large-scale development, marketing, and transportation of
the Priest River Valley’s most important natural resource--its vast timber reserves. Commercial growth
within the Priest River coincided with the enhancement of the timber industry. In less than a decade
from its founding, Priest River had grown from a struggling community of homesteaders and settlers
situated along the new GN main line to a thriving industrial community, with logging and timber
product manufacturing forming the town’s economic mainstay. Although in 1900 less than fifty citizens
comprised the population of Priest River, by 1903 the population had reached 400. Three lumber mills
then operated in Priest River: The White Pine Lumber Company (the largest of the three), the Graham
and Robinson plant, and the Priest River Company (An Illustrated History of North Idaho 1903, 804).
Those timber concerns were the first of many similar operations that eventually tapped the enormous
timber resources of the Priest River Valley. In the first decade of the twentieth century those timber
resources were estimated at "no less than 2,000,000,000 feet of saw timber" (Sandpoint and Bonner
County Directory 1910-1911, 140). While boosters recognized the primacy of the region’s timber
resources, they also tou<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>